THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAY 29 2020

SC Court of App

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001542

THE STATE,.....RESPONDENT,
V.
LARRY E. ADGER, III.....APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CHARLES W. WHITEN, JR.
P.O. Box 716
Anderson, South Carolina
864-617-9693
Attorney for Appellant
SC Bar 6075

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV.
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(864) 734-3713

DAVID R. WAGNER
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit
100 South Main Street
Anderson, SC 29624
(864-260-4046)

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CHARGING THE JURY UNDER ALLEN VS UNITED STATES IN COERCIVE LANGUAGE?"**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant was charged and indicted for trafficking in crack cocaine; trafficking in methamphetamines, and possession of a controlled substance.

After the jury was charged and sent to the jury room for deliberations the court was advised by the jury foreman, after deliberating for one hour and forty four minutes, that the jury was at an impasse on two of the charges and asked the court for advice.

The judge sent the jury back to the jury room to continue deliberations. After fifty three minutes, the jury announced ‘We have discussed the testimony and evidence thoroughly and repeatedly and there does not appear to be any chance of receiving 100 percent vote on two of the three charges.’”

The judge provided his proposed Allen Charge to both the State and the Defense. Defense Counsel objected to the Allen Charge stating that asking the jury to reevaluate their decision was in some way coercing them to make a decision.

The Court: “Oh, it is. I mean obviously, that’s what it’s designed to do”. (R. p. 18, lines 9,10)

Defense Counsel continued to object stating,

Mr. Whiten: “It’s an Allen Charge, but I don’t - - I don’t agree with the Allen Charge the way it’s written - - - (R. p. 18, lines 11-13)

Mr. Whiten: “because of that - - because, in effect, it’s taking their decision away from one individual, two individuals, however many it is. (R p. 18, lines 15-18)

The Defense Counsel continued to object.

Mr. Whiten: “I object to it, Your Honor.” (R. p. 18, line 20)

The Court: “I gotcha. And I note your objection. (R. p. 18, lines 21-22)

The judge acknowledged that the Defense Counsel never agreed to the Allen Charge.

The Court: Now let me just point out that earlier when we discussed what would – how you wanted to handle this, you were in agreement with me sending them back and not giving them an Allen Charge and continue to, but I guess you never agreed to the Allen Charge, period?” (R. p. 18, line 23 through R. p. 19, line 3)

After the judge read the Allen Charge to the jury, Defense Counsel renewed his objection for the record.

Mr. Whiten: “Your Honor, I renew my objection and I’ll read it for the record. (R. p. 22, lines 8-9) Primarily, for the provision of the Allen Charge that says that you should carefully consider and respect the opinion of each other and reevaluate your position for reasonableness and correctness and impartiality. Reevaluate is the problem word for me on this Allen Charge, your Honor.” (R. p. 22, lines 11-17)

The Judge then charged the Allen Charge to the jury over the objections of Defendant’s counsel.

After the Allen Charge was given to the jury, the jury returned after one hour with a verdict of guilty on all charges.

The jury was polled and all jurors including juror No. 167, the sole black juror, responded guilty. (R. p. 25, line 17)

ARGUMENT

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CHARGING THE JURY UNDER ALLEN VS UNITED STATES USING COERSIVE LANGUAGE?

Because the Allen Charge given by the Trial Judge:

(1) Spoke specifically to the only minority juror on the jury panel, the charge was unconstitutionally coercive. (R. p. 18, line 14 – R. p. 21, line 25)

The judge and the entire jury knew that there was only one minority juror on the jury panel, a young black woman. (Juror 167, Kristie M. White) (R. p. 28). The Defendant was black.

The judge instructed:

The Court: “As I instructed you earlier, in order for your verdict to stand, it will have to be unanimous, The verdict – when a matter is in dispute, it is amazing for even 2 people to agree on the matter, much less when you have 12 people. That even becomes more difficult.

In most cases, an absolute certainty cannot be reached or even expected; however, you have a duty to make a reasonable effort to reach a unanimous verdict. In doing this, you should consult with one another, express your own views, and listen to the opinions of your fellow jurors. Tell each other how you feel and why you feel that way. Discuss your differences with open minds.

Although, the verdict of the jury must always be unanimous, every one of you has the right to your own opinion. The verdict that you agree upon must be your own verdict,

the result of your own convictions, and you should not give up a firmly held belief merely to be in agreement with your fellow jurors.

The majority should consider the minorities' position, and the minorities should consider the majority's positions. You should carefully consider and respect the opinions of each other and reevaluate your position for reasonableness, correctness, and impartiality. You must lay aside all outside matters and reexamine the questions before you based on the law and evidence in this case." (R. p. 20, line 1 through R. p. 21, line 6)

The attorney for the Defendant objected to the charge on numerous occasions.
(R. p. 18, lines 3-22)

The Court: "You object to it?"

Mr. Whiten: Yes, sir.

The Court: Why?

Mr. Whiten: Well, asking the jury to reevaluate their decision, I think that's in some way coercing them to make a decision.

The Court: Oh, it is. I mean, obviously, that's what it's designed to do.

Mr. Whiten: It's an Allen Charge, but I don't - - I don't agree with the Allen Charge the way it's written - - -

The Court: Okay.

Mr. Whiten: - - - because of that - - because, in effect, it's taking - - it's taking their decision away from one individual, two individuals, however many it is.

The Court: All right.

Mr. Whiten: I object to it, Your Honor.

The Court: I gotcha. And I note your objection.

The judge, including that “however, you have a duty to make a reasonable effort to reach a unanimous verdict.” is directed at the sole minority juror on the jury panel in language of an almost identical substance as was found to be directed to the minority juror in *Tucker v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 483, 552 S.E.2d 712 (S.C. 2001). In *Tucker*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held:

1. Did the charge speak specifically to minority jurors?

While these jurors were told that they should not do "violence to his or her own conscience" in order to reach a verdict, and not to give up an opinion "based on reasoning [346 S.C. 493]

satisfactory to himself or herself merely for the purpose of ... agreement ...", the jurors were also charged:

[W]hen 12 men and women must agree as to a particular decision, it becomes correspondingly more difficult, but it's important that jurors reach a unanimous verdict....

It was never intended that the verdict of the jury should be the view of any one person. On the other hand, the verdict of the jury is the collective reasoning of all of the men and women serving on the panel. That's why we have a jury, so that we may have the benefit of collective thought and of collective reasoning.

Now, it becomes each of your duties as jurors to tell the other jurors how you feel about the case and why you think as you do. It becomes each of your duties to exchange views with the

other jurors, and you should listen to each other and give to the other's thought such meaning as you think it should have.

Viewed as a whole, this jury charge was directed to the minority juror. The trial judge knew, and apparently the jury knew that he knew, that while there had been two hold-out jurors as of 5 p.m. the night before, there was now only one.

Further, the South Carolina Supreme Court, in Workman vs State 412 S.C. 128, 771 S.E.2d 636 (S.C. 2015) held: "In South Carolina state courts, an Allen Charge cannot be directed to the minority voters on the jury panel. Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 569 S.E.2d 318 (S.C. 2002). Instead, an Allen Charge should be even handed directing both the majority and the minority to consider the other's views. Id. A trial judge has a duty to urge, but not coerce a jury to reach a verdict. Id whether an Allen Charge is unconstitutionally coercive must be judged in its "context and under all the circumstances." The Allen Charge in Workman Supra was found to be unconstitutionally coercive because the language could potentially be construed as coercive, as jurors are not required to reach a verdict after expressing they are deadlocked. In this case, now before the court, the Allen Charge, viewed as a whole, was impermissibly directed to the sole minority juror. The judge and all white jurors knew that there was only one black juror on the jury panel. When the jury returned a guilty verdict an hour and forty minutes after receiving the Allen Charge and the Court had not addressed the jury that "Jurors are not required to reach a verdict after expressing they are deadlocked" the language could, potentially be construed as coercive.

Viewed as a whole and under the known circumstances by the judge, and the jury panel, and in the context of the four factors set forth by the court in Tucker vs Catoe, Supra, after the jury expressed that they were deadlocked, the noted charge was coercive to the minority juror.

Mandatory language used in the charge.

(2) The Judge's charge that "you have a duty to make a reasonable effort to reach a unanimous verdict" is coercion in its own right. There is no "duty" to reach a unanimous verdict and to charge "a duty" to reach a unanimous verdict is coercion to the only black juror on the panel. Additional language by the judge that "you should carefully consider and "respect the opinion of each other and reevaluate your position for reasonableness, correctness and impartiality" is extremely coercive in the context and makeup of this jury panel. To tell a sole black juror to respect the opinion of eleven white jurors in a closed room is not only coercive but borderline historically racist language.

Judge's personal interjection of his opinion as to future of the case.

(3) The trial judge interjected himself into the decision of the jury when he informed the jury;

The Court: "If you do not agree on the verdict in this case, I must declare a mistrial. In that case, it does not mean anyone wins. It just means that at some point in the future, I will try this case with some other jury setting where you now sit. The same participants will come in, and the same players are asked the same questions and give basically the same answers and we'll go through whole process again.

You were selected in the same manner and from the same source as any future jury will be. And there's no reason for me to suppose that the case will ever be submitted to 12 more intelligent, impartial, conscientious, and competent jurors than you or that more clearer evidence will be produced on one side or the other."

Therefore, Mr. Foreman, I'm going to ask that you go back and continue your deliberations if you will, please sir. Thank you." (R. p. 21, lines 7-25)

This instruction to the jury, and especially to the one minority member is an explicit direction that she must agree on a verdict, or else he would personally have to retry the case. That is an erroneous and totally misleading statement. Another option would be that the State could make a decision not to retry the case for any reason or for no reason. Secondly, the judge's charge that "the same players are asked basically the same questions and give basically the same answers is projecting to the sitting jury an erroneous projection of what they now know will happen at a next trial if a trial is ever held, leaving with the sitting jury a judgment on further facts from the judge and an impression that they might as well go ahead and find a verdict. The instruction is a finding of fact by the judge, evidence they may or may not be presented at future proceedings, if any.

Also, the judge included in this instruction that "we'll go through the whole process again." Who is the judge referring to when he says "we'll go through the whole process." This language infers that "we" the community will convict this man if you don't.

This instruction unlawfully introduced the coercive factor that the judge would have to work longer under what he described as identical circumstances. The language is coercive and is unconstitutional as a violation of due process provisions of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Neither the time or cost of a jury trial is a factor for determination by the jury.

TIME OF REACHING A VERDICT
(R. p. 9, line 21 through R. p. 27, line 3)

(4) One hour after the jury received the Allen Charge, the jury announced its verdict of guilty on all charges.

The jury panel began deliberations at 12:17 p.m. on June 19, 2018. At 1:34 p.m. the jury returned to the courtroom for a question not related to the Allen Charge. At 1:35 the jury resumed deliberations. At 2:03 p.m. the jury advised the court that “We are at an impasse on two of the three charges. Advice.”

At 2:10 p.m. the judge advised the jury to go back and reevaluate the position of the jury. At 2:11 the jury continued deliberations. At 3:04 p.m. the jury announced by note that “We have discussed the testimony and evidence thoroughly and repeatedly and there does not appear to be any chance of receiving 100 percent vote on two of the three charges.” The judge then gave the jury the Allen Charge set forth above.

In Tucker v. Catoe supra, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held the hold out of a single juror “where every member of the jury knew that a single juror was holding out should not prevent the majority from their verdict” and that the return of a verdict one and one half hours after an Allen Charge was a factor weighing in favor of a judge’s finding of coercion. Tucker v. Catoe, supra.

In this case, there is no indication that the jury panel would have changed their opinion, after two notices of impasse to the judge and after two instructions for the jury to continue deliberations. The Allen Charge was an impermissible coercion given in the context and circumstances of the case.

The jury verdict after only one hour of the Allen Charge, along with the other facts noted above render the charge coercive to the sole minority juror.

Problems arising from the inherently coercive effect of the Allen Charge have caused other courts of appeals and state courts to prohibit or to restrict severely its use.

Several states have banned use of the traditional Allen Charge in all criminal cases.

State v. Czachor, 82 N.J. 392, 413 A.2d 593 (N.J. 1980);

Kersey v. State, 525 S.W.2d 139 (Tenn. 1975) ;