STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jun 04 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001542

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

LARRY E. ADGER, III,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3713

DAVID R. WAGNER
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

100 South Main St.
Anderson, SC 29624
(864) 260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial judge did not err in issuing an Allen charge because the charge given was not unduly coercive to the jury.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Anderson County Grand Jury for trafficking methamphetamine (28 grams to 100 grams), trafficking crack-cocaine (28 grams to 100 grams), and possession of a controlled substance. On June 18–19, 2018, Appellant appeared before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, and a jury, for trial. Assistant Solicitors Kristin Reeves, Esquire, and Chelsey Moore, Esquire, represented the State; Charles White, Esquire, represented Appellant. The jury found Appellant guilty of all three charges. On August 26, 2019, a sentencing hearing was held. Due to Appellant’s prior convictions, he was sentenced to twenty-five years’ incarceration and a \$50,000 fine.

Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal and an initial brief. This brief of Respondent now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the conclusion of the trial judge's jury charges, following his instructions on the elements of the charged crimes and the State's burden of proof, the trial judge instructed the jurors on their roles in the process. He explained:

First, you don't serve as jurors to be partisans or advocates for either side. You were chosen by both sides because you represented either verbally or by your silence that you could be fair and impartial to both sides of this case and decide this case solely based on the evidence and without prejudice to either party.

That means when you begin your deliberations, you must [use] your experiences that you have in this life, good common sense, and your sense of logic and reasoning in discussing all the evidence and hopefully reaching a unanimous verdict.

Let me say something about the deliberations. Deliberation is defined as a careful consideration weighing with a view towards a decision. Regardless what any of you may think about our jury system, I will submit to you that the genius of the system is that it allows 12 different men and wom[e]n such as yourselves who come from different backgrounds, who have different life experiences and perspectives, to listen to the testimony and consider all the evidence, to talk about it, and to ultimately reach a verdict.

We call them deliberations for a reason. You are to consider the evidence carefully and deliberately and discuss it in a calm, thorough, and courteous manner. Remember, you're not partisans or advocates. You're judges of the facts. You are to listen to your fellow jurors' point[s] of view.

Let me tell you why they have this point of view. You're to walk through and discuss all the evidence in this case. And if you're doing something deliberately, you should not be in a hurry. You should not be in a hurry in this case. This is the parties' only day in court. They do not have a second time to come back here [and] have a second bite of the apple.

In order for your verdict to stand, it must be unanimous. With that being said, each of you must decide this case on your own, but you should do that only after you have impartially considered all the evidence and discussed it fully with your fellow jurors and you listen to your other points of view and the reason for those points of view.

Do not be afraid to change your opinion. If the weight of the evidence during your discussions and your deliberations convinces you that's the right thing to do, but do not change a firmly held belief simply to appease your fellow jurors.

Neither party objected to the charges as they were given. (R.p.2, line 24–R.p.4, line 22; R.p.9, line 22–R.p.10, line 1)

At 12:17 p.m., the jury began deliberations. These continued, with only a break during which the trial judge responded to a question,² until 2:03 p.m. At that point, the trial judge placed on the record that he received a note from the jury reading, “We are at an impasse on two of the three charges. Advice.” The trial judge told the parties his inclination was not to provide an Allen charge at that point because he felt jurors had not deliberated long enough at that point. Instead, the trial judge wanted to speak with jurors to confirm they had reviewed all the evidence, were communicating with each other, and then send them back to continue deliberations. If, after that, they state they are at an impasse, then the trial judge would provide an Allen charge. The trial judge then asked the parties whether they objected to that course of action and neither party objected to the proposed course of action. (R.p.10, line 11–R.p.13, line 22)

After the jury returned to the courtroom, the trial judge confirmed with the Foreman that the note was correct. The trial judge asked the Foreman whether: (1) the jury had considered all the testimony and exhibits, (2) every juror had been given the opportunity to express his or her points of view and explain why they had them; (3) “constructive communication” occurred among the jurors. In response, the Foreman noted there were “differing interpretations of the evidence.” The trial judge then asked the jurors to go back to the jury room while he discussed

² The question was about whether a vehicle involved in the case possessed a dash cam. The trial judge told the jury he was not permitted to comment on the evidence and the jury must focus its deliberations solely on the evidence provided during the trial. (R.p.10, line 12–R.p.12, line 6)

this information with the parties. After the jurors left, the trial judge immediately stated he was hesitant to push jurors any further by asking them whether they felt “locked in” because he believed that would then force him to provide an Allen charge at that time. Trial counsel confirmed he also did not want to push the jurors any further at that time because he would “rather not have an Allen Charge unless it’s necessary.” The trial judge confirmed he would call the jury back into the courtroom and ask them to reevaluate the evidence and continue the deliberations. Trial counsel specifically agreed to this language. The jury returned to the courtroom, and the trial judge asked them to “go back over all the evidence and the testimony and the exhibits in th[e] case and just continue [their] deliberations.” The jury began deliberating again at 2:11 p.m. (R.p.13, line 23–R.p.16, line 24)

At 3:04 p.m., the trial judge received another note from the jury stating they had “discussed the testimony and evidence thoroughly and repeatedly and there d[id] not appear to be any chance of receiving 100 percent vote on two of the three charges.” The trial judge announced that he believed his only option at that point was to give an Allen charge to the jury. Appellant provided the parties with a copy of the proposed charge and allowed them to review it. Trial counsel conceded the proposed charge was a “traditional” Allen charge but still objected to it because asking a jury to reevaluate their decisions is, “in some way coercing them to make a decision.” He claimed the Allen charge was “taking their decision away from one individual, two individuals, however many it is.” The trial judge noted the objection, and explained that an Allen charge, by its nature and design, is supposed to nudge jurors towards making a decision. When the jury returned, the trial judge issued the following Allen charge:

Ladies and gentlemen, you’ve stated that you’ve been unable to agree on a verdict in this case. As I instructed you earlier, in order for your verdict to stand, it will have to be unanimous. The verdict – when a matter is in dispute, it is amazing for

even 2 people to agree on that matter, much less when you have 12 people. That even becomes more difficult.

In most cases an absolute certainty cannot be reached or even expected; however, you have a duty to make a reasonable effort to reach a unanimous verdict. In doing this, you should consult with one another, express your own views, and listen to the opinions of your fellow jurors. Tell each other how you feel and why you feel that way. Discuss your differences with open minds.

Although, the verdict of the jury must always be unanimous, every one of you has the right to your own opinion. The verdict that you agree upon must be your own verdict, the result of your own convictions, and you should not give up a firmly held belief merely to be in agreement with your fellow jurors.

The majority should consider the minorities['] position, the minorities should consider the majority's position. You should carefully consider and respect the opinions of each other and reevaluate your position for reasonableness, correctness, and impartiality. You must lay aside all outside matters and reexamine the questions before you based on the law and evidence in this case.

If you do not agree on the verdict in this case, I must declare a mistrial. In that case, it does not mean that anyone wins. It just means that at some point in the future, I will try this case with some other jury sitting where you now sit. The same participants will come in, and the same players are asked basically the same questions and give basically the same answers and we'll go through the whole process again.

You were selected in the same manner and from the same source as any future jury will be. And there's no reason for me to suppose that the case will ever be submitted to 12 more intelligent, impartial, conscientious, and competent jurors than you or that more clearer evidence will be produce on side or the other.

Therefore, Mr. Foreman, I'm going to ask that you go back and continue your deliberations if you will, please, sir. Thank you.

(R.p.17, line 3–R.p.22, line 19)

The jury was sent back to deliberations at 3:13 p.m. At 4:13 p.m., the trial judge received notice they had reached their verdicts. The jury found Appellant guilty of all three of his charges. The jury was then individually polled to confirm they all voted guilty on all three charges. The jurors were then excused. (R.p.22, line 20–R.p.27, line 3)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001) (citing State v. Cutter, 261 S.C. 140, 199 S.E.2d 61 (1973)). The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829. Review is limited to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion. Id. The appellate court may not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but must determine whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829; see generally Felts v. Richland County, 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991) ("In law actions, the lower court must be affirmed where there is 'any evidence' to support its findings.").

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not err in issuing an Allen charge because the charge given was not unduly coercive to the jury.

“Ordinarily, the trial court has the duty to give requested instructions which correctly state the law applicable to the issues and which are supported by the evidence.” State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996). The trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence only if that failure was prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 270, 721 S.E.2d 413, 422 (2011).

“An Allen charge is an instruction advising deadlocked jurors to have deference to each other’s views, that they should listen, with a disposition to be convinced, to each other’s arguments.” State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 418 n.1, 649 S.E.2d 41, 57 n.1 (Ct. App. 2007) (internal quotation marks omitted), aff’d 387 S.C. 310, 692 S.E.2d 895 (2010). “Whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive must be judged in its context and under all the circumstances.” Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 490, 552 S.E.2d 712, 716 (2001) (quoting Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988)).

“In South Carolina state courts, an Allen charge cannot be directed to the minority voters on the jury panel.” Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 194, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323 (2002). “Instead, an Allen charge should be even-handed, directing both the majority and the minority to consider the other’s views.” Id. “A trial judge has a duty to urge, but not coerce, a jury to reach a verdict.” Id. In Tucker, the Supreme Court of South Carolina adopted the standard established by the United States Supreme Court in Lowenfield to determine whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive. Those factors are:

- (1) Whether the charge spoke specifically to the minority juror(s);

- (2) The language of the charge, including statements such as “You have [] to reach a decision in this case”;
- (3) Whether the trial judge inquired into the jury’s numerical division, a question generally considered coercive; and
- (4) Weighing the length of time between the issuance of the Allen charge and the jury’s return of a verdict (with verdicts returned “shortly after” the supplemental charge suggesting a possibility of coercion) against trial counsel’s failures to object either to the charge itself or an inquiry whether the jurors believed further deliberation would result in a verdict.

Tucker, 346 S.C. at 492, 552 S.E.2d at 716 (citing Lowenfield, 484 U.S. at 237).

Initially, the State would note Appellant’s argument that the Allen charge is coercive demonstrates Appellant’s misunderstanding of the legal requirements for an Allen charge. As the trial judge correctly noted, some degree of coercion is present in every Allen charge. By its very nature, an Allen charge is a request for deadlocked jurors to open themselves up, with a “disposition to be convinced, to each other’s arguments.” Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. at 418 n.1, 649 S.E.2d at 57 n.1. An appellate court is only concerned with whether such a charge is unconstitutionally coercive. See Tucker, 346 S.C. at 491, 552 S.E.2d at 716.

On the merits, analyzed under the Lowenfield factors, the trial judge’s Allen charge was not unconstitutionally coercive. The trial judge spoke to both the majority and minority jurors, without knowledge of or questioning their numerical division, and asked them to “consult with one another, express [their] own views, and listen to the opinions of [their] fellow jurors.³ Tell each other how [they] fe[lt] and why [they] felt that way. Discuss [their] differences with open

³ Throughout his brief, Appellant repeatedly mentions the presence of a young, black, female juror on the panel as a “minority juror.” See, e.g., (Br. of Appellant, p.4). From the context used, the State believes Appellant reads Allen as pertaining solely to racial minorities, rather than its broader application to any juror, regardless of race, gender, or other identity or background, who merely has an opinion of guilt which differs from that of the majority of other jurors. Appellant’s interpretation of “minority juror” is, in this situation, at odds with the broader application of the term because there is no evidence in the record that the young, black, female juror was in the voting minority of the jury. Notably, neither the trial judge nor the parties even knew what the minority position[s] was/were as to Appellant’s guilt or any numerical breakdown for such. Accordingly, the personal information of the juror is a non-factor in the Allen question before this Court.

minds.” The trial judge was adamant that jurors “should not give up a firmly held belief merely to be in agreement with your fellow jurors. Notably, the trial judge never told the jury they were forced to reach a decision in the case: he clearly asserted that he was only asking the jurors to return to the jury room and attempt to reach a verdict also informed the jurors that if they failed to reach a verdict, the case would simply be retried with a new jury.

The final factor, the length of time between the Allen charge and the jury’s verdict, also supports its constitutionality. In the instant case, the jury deliberations only occurred for approximately four hours in total. While it is true the jury only deliberated from 3:13 p.m. to 4:13 p.m. after receiving the charge, such a period was very reasonable in that situation. The pre-Allen deliberations occurred, with several interruptions, from 12:17 p.m. to 3:04 p.m. Over one-fourth of the jury’s deliberations occurred after the trial judge issued the charge.

In Tucker, the Supreme Court of South Carolina stated the post-Allen deliberation period, approximately an hour and a half, was a “relatively short period of time” in that case because deliberations in that case began at 1:33 p.m. on the first day of deliberations, the jury became deadlocked around 5:00 p.m. that day, and the jury received an Allen charge around 11:00 a.m. on the second day, returning with a verdict around 12:27 pm. In total, the jury deliberated for approximately eight and a half hours, over half of that deadlocked before receiving the Allen charge. Id. at 485–88, 494, 552 S.E.2d at 713–14, 718. Here, unlike Tucker, the post-Allen discussions constituted a significant portion of the jury’s deliberations, over one-fourth of them.

Finally, additional evidence that the jurors were not coerced are the jurors themselves: after the verdict, the trial judge polled each individual juror and asked whether, even after the reading of the verdict, he or she still believed Appellant was guilty of the charged crimes. All

twelve jurors confirmed their votes. Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in denying trial counsel's request for a supplemental Allen charge.